

Validation of ~~internal reference~~ genes for relative quantification studies of gene expression in human laryngeal cancer

Deleted: quantitation

Running title: Gene expression stability evaluation

Xiaofeng Wang¹, Jinting He², Wei Wang¹, Ming Ren³, Sujie Gao⁴, Guanjie Zhao⁵,
Jincheng Wang^{3,*}, Qiwei Yang^{3,6,*}

¹ Stomatology Department of China-Japan Union Hospital, Jilin University, Changchun 130033, China

² Neurology Department of China-Japan Union Hospital, Jilin University, Changchun 130000, China

³ Orthopedics Department of Second Hospital, Jilin University, Changchun 130041, China

⁴ Anesthesiology Department of China-Japan Union Hospital, Jilin University, Changchun 130033, China

⁵ Nephrology Department of China-Japan Union Hospital, Jilin University, Changchun 130033, China

⁶ Central Laboratory of Second Hospital, Jilin University, Changchun 130041, China

*Correspondence to:

Qiwei Yang

Orthopedics Department of Second Hospital, Central Laboratory of Second Hospital, Jilin University, No. 218 Ziqiang Street, Nanguan District, Changchun 130041, China
Tel: +8613504313379

Email: qiweiy@163.com

Jincheng Wang

Orthopedics Department of Second Hospital, Jilin University, No. 218 Ziqiang Street,
Nanguan District, Changchun 130041, China

Email: jinchengwang@hotmail.com

Abstract

Background: The aim of this study was to determine the expression stabilities of 12 common **internal reference** genes for the relative quantification analysis of target gene expression performed by reverse transcription real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR) in human laryngeal cancer.

Deleted: quantitation

Methods: Hep-2 cells and 14 laryngeal cancer tissue samples were investigated. The expression characteristics of 12 **internal reference** gene candidates (18S rRNA, GAPDH, ACTB, HPRT1, RPL29, HMBS, PPIA, ALAS1, TBP, PUM1, GUSB, and B2M) were assessed by RT-qPCR. The data were analyzed by three commonly used software programs: geNorm, NormFinder, and BestKeeper.

Results: The use of the combination of four **internal reference** genes was more appropriate than the use of a single **internal reference** gene. The optimal combination was PPIA + GUSB + RPL29 + HPRT1 for both the cell line and tissues; while the most appropriate combination was GUSB + RPL29 + HPRT1 + HMBS for the tissues.

Conclusions: Our recommended **internal reference** genes may improve the accuracy of relative quantification analysis of target gene expression performed by the RT-qPCR method in further gene expression research on laryngeal tumors.

Deleted: quantitation

Introduction

Real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR) is an accurate, sensitive, and rapid method for gene expression studies (Huggett et al. 2005). It is considered as the gold standard for gene expression studies. Among all analysis strategies, relative quantification is a relatively simple and common method that is widely used for investigating gene expression in biomedical studies (Dheda et al. 2004). An internal reference gene is considered as a stably expressed gene in all biological samples and is used as an internal control to determine the expression levels of target genes. Therefore, the accurate determination of gene expression levels depends on the selection of a reliable internal reference gene for normalization (Liu et al. 2014). The identification of appropriate internal reference genes is a crucial step for relative quantification analysis. An ideal internal reference gene should be universally stable under various experimental conditions (Derveaux et al. 2010; Radonic et al. 2004). In general, internal reference genes, such as 18S rRNA, GAPDH, and ACTB, are chosen for relative quantification analysis between clinical samples. However, increasing evidence has suggested that the expression levels of these commonly used internal reference genes are variable in distinct tissues, cell lines, between treatments of the same cell line (Ali et al. 2015; Ma et al. 2015; Yang et al. 2014; Yu et al. 2015), as well as across cell types (He et al. 2015; Li et al. 2015a; Li et al. 2015b). Thus, with the advancement of precise medicine, it is of high importance to evaluate and validate internal reference genes for the target gene expression profile studies among different cell types and tissues.

Laryngeal cancer is a common squamous cell carcinoma that can develop in any part of the larynx. The cure rate of laryngeal cancer is affected by the tumor location. Accordingly, for the purpose of tumor staging, the larynx is divided into

three anatomical regions: the glottis, the supraglottis, and the subglottis (Lozano et al. 2012). With the great advancement of functional genomics and proteomics studies in cancer research, personalized medicine has become possible. However, personalized treatment of a disease, especially cancer, relies on the identification and validation of the drivers for the disease. However, there is currently no previous research on the selection of suitable **internal reference** genes for relative quantification analysis of biomarker expression in human laryngeal cancer cell lines and tissues.

A number of genes including 18S rRNA, GAPDH, ACTB, HPRT1, RPL29, HMBS, PPIA, ALAS1, TBP, PUM1, GUSB, and B2M are considered as optimal **internal reference** genes for relative quantification analysis in other cancers (Huan et al. 2012; Ohl et al. 2005). In order to determine the optimal **internal reference** genes for relative quantification analysis of human laryngeal cancer by RT-qPCR, we validated these 12 candidate genes for gene expression studies in a human laryngeal cancer cell line and tissues.

Materials and methods

Human laryngeal cancer cell line

Human laryngeal cancer Hep-2 cells were provided by Jilin Cancer Hospital (Changchun, China). The cells were cultivated in Iscove's modified Dulbecco's media containing 10% fetal bovine serum and 100 units/mL penicillin at 37 °C with 5% CO₂.

Laryngeal cancer tissue samples

A total of 14 laryngeal cancer tissue samples were provided by the Tissue Bank of China-Japan Union Hospital, Jilin University (Changchun, China). The Ethics

Committee of the China-Japan Union Hospital has a detailed understanding of and approved this study. Written consent was obtained from each patient.

RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis

Total RNA was extracted from Hep-2 cells and each tissue sample using TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen, USA), according to the manufacturer's instructions. The residual genomic DNA was eliminated by DNase I. The concentration, purity, and integrity of the isolated RNA were determined by a NanoDrop 2000 instrument (Thermo Scientific, USA) by measuring the absorbance values at 260 nm (A260) and 280 nm (A280). One microgram of total RNA was used for the cDNA synthesis reaction using a cDNA Synthesis kit (Sangon, China), according to the manufacturer's instructions.

RT-qPCR

The sequences of the primers of 12 internal reference genes were chosen based on previous studies (Battula et al. 2007; Mane et al. 2008) and synthesized by Sangon Company (Shanghai, China) as listed in **Table 1**. RT-qPCR analysis using 2×SG Fast qPCR Master Mix (Sangon Company, China) was performed on a LightCycler 480 instrument (Roche, Germany), as described previously (Ma et al. 2015; Yang et al. 2014; Yu et al. 2015). The RT-qPCR was repeated three times for each sample. The cycle threshold value (Cp value) data were analyzed using the equation of relative quantities (Q): $Q = 2^{-\Delta C_p}$ (Livak & Schmittgen 2001).

PCR efficiency

Several cDNA samples were selected randomly for the PCR efficiency investigation. cDNA samples were serially diluted from 0.001× to 1×, and the efficiency (E) was

calculated by the following formula: $E = 10^{-1/\text{slope}}$, where slope stands for the slope of the calibration curve.

Statistical analysis

Samples were divided into cell line + tissue group and tissue group. Three frequently used software programs, including geNorm (Vandesompele et al. 2002) (<http://medgen.ugent.be/~jvdesomp/genorm/>), NormFinder (Andersen et al. 2004) (<http://moma.dk/normfinder-software>), and BestKeeper (Pfaffl et al. 2004) (<http://www.gene-quantification.de/bestkeeper.html>), were utilized to evaluate the stability of the **internal reference** genes as described previously (Ali et al. 2015; Ma et al. 2015; Yang et al. 2014; Yu et al. 2015).

Results

Specificity and efficiency of the amplification reactions of the 12 candidate **internal reference** genes

A260 and A280 were used to assess the concentration, purity, and integrity of the isolated RNA. The concentration of the isolated RNA was 3087.88 ± 2849.46 ng/ μ L, with an A260/A280 ratio of 1.94 ± 0.04 . Agarose gel electrophoresis and melting curves were used to verify the specificity and efficiency of the amplification reactions. The sizes of the amplified products were in agreement with the expected results, and nonspecific bands were not observed (Fig. 1A). All curves of the amplified fragments exhibited a single signal peak, as shown by the melting curve (Fig. 1B). The PCR efficiency range was between 1.92 and 2.07, and all correlation coefficients were

greater than 0.97. These data demonstrated that the specificity and efficiency of the amplification reactions were reliable enough for further analysis.

The expression levels of candidate internal reference genes

The Cp value was employed to assess the expression levels of the candidate internal reference genes. A lower Cp value indicates a higher expression level. The Cp values represented in this research from all samples ranged between 7.82 and 29.45. In both groups, 18S had the lowest mean Cp values of 9.57 ± 0.96 and 9.62 ± 1.03 , and HMBS had the highest mean Cp values of 27.15 ± 1.93 and 27.68 ± 1.67 ; but the absolute maximum Cp value was presented by PUM1, which was 29.45 in each group (Fig. 2).

The expression stability of the candidate internal reference genes

To better evaluate the expression stability of the internal reference genes, geNorm, NormFinder, and BestKeeper software programs were utilized. According to the results of geNorm, in the cell line + tissue group, RPL29 and HPRT1 had the lowest M-values, followed by PPIA, suggesting that these are the most stable internal reference genes for the study of human laryngeal cancer cell lines and tissues. In the tissue group, PPIA and RPL29 had the lowest M-values, followed by HPRT1, which suggests that these same genes are the most stable internal reference genes for the study of human laryngeal cancer tissues (Fig. 3A). At least five internal reference genes should be combined to achieve satisfactory accuracy for both groups, with V5/6 of 0.145 and 0.132 in the cell line and tissue, respectively (Fig. 3B).

According to the results determined by the NormFinder program, the combination of PPIA and GUSB was the optimal combination in the cell line + tissue group, while PPIA was the optimal internal reference gene in this group, followed by

RPL29. In the tissue group, GUSB + RPL29 was the most stable internal reference gene combination, while RPL29 was the most stably expressed gene, followed by HPRT1 (Fig. 4).

The limitation of the BestKeeper program is that only 10 internal reference genes can be assessed at one time. Therefore, we needed to remove the two least stable internal reference genes as indicated by the geNorm program from each group before analysis. In terms of the R-value, the optimal internal reference gene in the cell line + tissue group was HMBS, followed by RPL29, GUSB, and HPRT1; while in the tissue group, the optimal internal reference gene was TBP, followed by HMBS, RPL29, and PPIA (Fig. 5).

Discussion

For the relative quantitative analysis of gene expression, the stability of internal reference genes is crucial for its accuracy. In fact, the expression levels of common internal reference genes vary significantly under various experimental conditions and with different samples (Ma et al. 2015; Yang et al. 2014; Yu et al. 2015). To determine laryngeal cancer gene expression profiles, it is necessary to confirm stable and reliable internal reference genes for RT-qPCR.

In order to select the suitable internal reference genes for relative quantification analysis of human laryngeal cancer, both a cell line and tissues were investigated in this study. The cell line Hep-2, which is the most commonly used laryngeal cancer cell line for *in vitro* studies, was used. Previous studies have shown that the expression levels of the selected internal reference genes are not directly related to the tumor stage or grade (Ohl et al. 2005; Wan et al. 2010). In the present study, only malignant squamous cell carcinoma biopsy specimens, which have the highest incidence of

pathological types of laryngeal cancer, were chosen according to the indications for laryngeal cancer surgery. The pathological diagnoses of the biopsy specimens were confirmed by the hospital's Pathology Department.

The expression stability of twelve common **internal reference** genes, including 18S rRNA, ACTB, GAPDH, HPRT1, RPL29, HMBS, PPIA, ALAS1, TBP, PUM1, GUSB, and B2M, were investigated in the present study. The data were analyzed by the geNorm, NormFinder, and BestKeeper software programs, which were designed to investigate the stability of **internal reference** genes. According to the geNorm program, RPL29 and HPRT1 were the optimal **internal reference** genes in the cell line + tissue group. In the tissue group, PPIA and RPL29 were the optimal **internal reference** genes. Analysis of variance by the NormFinder software program found that PPIA and the combination of PPIA and GUSB in the cell line + tissue group, and RPL29 and the combination of GUSB and RPL29 in the tissue group were the optimal **internal reference** genes and the best combinations. The BestKeeper program was further used to reduce the one-sidedness of the computational models of the above-mentioned software programs. The results demonstrated that HMBS was the optimal **internal reference** gene, followed by RPL29 and GUSB in the cell line + tissue group; while TBP, HMBS, and RPL29 were the optimal **internal reference** genes in the tissue group. Since the rankings of the candidate gene stabilities were slightly different between the two groups, possibly caused by different calculation algorithms (Brüge et al. 2011; Chang et al. 2012), our data suggest that there is no specific single **internal reference** gene that can be recommended as the optimal **internal reference** gene for normalizing the relative gene quantification in laryngeal cancer samples. In addition, according to the results of geNorm, the optimal number of **internal reference** genes used in combination was five in both groups. In contrast, a previous study has suggested that

Deleted: quantitation

the combination of three **internal reference** genes is the optimal choice to perform the relative quantitative investigation (Wisniewski et al. 2013). Based on the results of the three software programs, we propose that a combination of four **internal reference** genes is best for normalizing the relative quantification. **Two internal reference genes from the combination suggested by NormFinder and two genes that were top-ranked in all three software programs were selected for the recommended combination.** The recommended combination for the cell line + tissue group was PPIA + GUSB + RPL29 + HPRT1; and for the tissue group, it was GUSB + RPL29 + HPRT1 + HMBS.

Deleted: quantitation

Conclusion

In summary, the present study evaluated the commonly used **internal reference** genes for the gene expression profile analysis of human laryngeal cancer cell lines and tissues from multiple patients and then selected the most appropriate one as well as the optimal combination. Our recommended **internal reference** genes may improve the accuracy of relative quantification analysis of target gene expression performed by the RT-qPCR method in further gene expression research on laryngeal tumors. **However, in the specific implementation process, it is suggested to further test the internal reference genes recommended according to the specific experimental conditions, as many factors can influence reference gene stability.**

Deleted: quantitation

References

- Ali H, Du Z, Li X, Yang Q, Zhang YC, Wu M, Li Y, and Zhang G. 2015. Identification of suitable reference genes for gene expression studies using quantitative polymerase chain reaction in lung cancer in vitro. *Mol Med Rep* 11:3767-3773. 10.3892/mmr.2015.3159
- Andersen CL, Jensen JL, and Orntoft TF. 2004. Normalization of real-time quantitative reverse transcription-PCR data: a model-based variance estimation approach to identify genes suited for normalization, applied to bladder and colon cancer data sets. *Cancer Res* 64:5245-5250. 10.1158/0008-5472.can-04-0496
- Battula VL, Bareiss PM, Trembl S, Conrad S, Albert I, Hojak S, Abele H, Schewe B, Just L, Skutella T, and Buhning HJ. 2007. Human placenta and bone marrow derived MSC cultured in serum-free, b-FGF-containing medium express cell surface frizzled-9 and SSEA-4 and give rise to multilineage differentiation. *Differentiation* 75:279-291. 10.1111/j.1432-0436.2006.00139.x
- Brüge F, Venditti E, Tiano L, Littarru GP, and Damiani E. 2011. Reference gene validation for qPCR on normoxia- and hypoxia-cultured human dermal fibroblasts exposed to UVA: is beta-actin a reliable normalizer for photoaging studies? *J Biotechnol* 156:153-162. 10.1016/j.jbiotec.2011.09.018
- Chang E, Shi S, Liu J, Cheng T, Xue L, Yang X, Yang W, Lan Q, and Jiang Z. 2012. Selection of reference genes for quantitative gene expression studies in *Platycladus orientalis* (Cupressaceae) Using real-time PCR. *PLoS One* 7:e33278. 10.1371/journal.pone.0033278

- Derveaux S, Vandesompele J, and Hellemans J. 2010. How to do successful gene expression analysis using real-time PCR. *Methods* 50:227-230. 10.1016/j.ymeth.2009.11.001
- Dheda K, Huggett JF, Bustin SA, Johnson MA, Rook G, and Zumla A. 2004. Validation of housekeeping genes for normalizing RNA expression in real-time PCR. *Biotechniques* 37:118-119.
- He YX, Zhang Y, Yang Q, Wang C, and Su G. 2015. Selection of suitable reference genes for reverse transcription-quantitative polymerase chain reaction analysis of neuronal cells differentiated from bone mesenchymal stem cells. *Mol Med Rep* 12:2291-2300. 10.3892/mmr.2015.3671
- Huan P, Maosheng T, Zhiqian H, Long C, and Xiaojun Y. 2012. TLR4 expression in normal gallbladder, chronic cholecystitis and gallbladder carcinoma. *Hepatogastroenterology* 59:42-46. 10.5754/hge10258
- Huggett J, Dheda K, Bustin S, and Zumla A. 2005. Real-time RT-PCR normalisation; strategies and considerations. *Genes & Immunity* 6:279-284.
- Li X, Yang Q, Bai J, Xuan Y, and Wang Y. 2015a. Identification of appropriate reference genes for human mesenchymal stem cell analysis by quantitative real-time PCR. *Biotechnol Lett* 37:67-73. 10.1007/s10529-014-1652-9
- Li X, Yang Q, Bai J, Yang Y, Zhong L, and Wang Y. 2015b. Identification of optimal reference genes for quantitative PCR studies on human mesenchymal stem cells. *Mol Med Rep* 11:1304-1311. 10.3892/mmr.2014.2841
- Liu J, Wang Q, Sun M, Zhu L, Yang M, and Zhao Y. 2014. Selection of reference genes for quantitative real-time PCR normalization in *Panax ginseng* at different stages of growth and in different organs. *PLoS One* 9:e112177-e112177.

Livak KJ, and Schmittgen TD. 2001. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. *Methods* 25:402-408. 10.1006/meth.2001.1262

Lozano R, Naghavi M, Foreman K, Lim S, Shibuya K, Aboyans V, Abraham J, Adair T, Aggarwal R, Ahn SY, Alvarado M, Anderson HR, Anderson LM, Andrews KG, Atkinson C, Baddour LM, Barker-Collo S, Bartels DH, Bell ML, Benjamin EJ, Bennett D, Bhalla K, Bikbov B, Bin Abdulhak A, Birbeck G, Blyth F, Bolliger I, Boufous S, Bucello C, Burch M, Burney P, Carapetis J, Chen H, Chou D, Chugh SS, Coffeng LE, Colan SD, Colquhoun S, Colson KE, Condon J, Connor MD, Cooper LT, Corriere M, Cortinovis M, de Vaccaro KC, Couser W, Cowie BC, Criqui MH, Cross M, Dabhadkar KC, Dahodwala N, De Leo D, Degenhardt L, Delossantos A, Denenberg J, Des Jarlais DC, Dharmaratne SD, Dorsey ER, Driscoll T, Duber H, Ebel B, Erwin PJ, Espindola P, Ezzati M, Feigin V, Flaxman AD, Forouzanfar MH, Fowkes FG, Franklin R, Fransen M, Freeman MK, Gabriel SE, Gakidou E, Gaspari F, Gillum RF, Gonzalez-Medina D, Halasa YA, Haring D, Harrison JE, Havmoeller R, Hay RJ, Hoen B, Hotez PJ, Hoy D, Jacobsen KH, James SL, Jasrasaria R, Jayaraman S, Johns N, Karthikeyan G, Kassebaum N, Keren A, Khoo JP, Knowlton LM, Kobusingye O, Koranteng A, Krishnamurthi R, Lipnick M, Lipshultz SE, Ohno SL, Mabweijano J, MacIntyre MF, Mallinger L, March L, Marks GB, Marks R, Matsumori A, Matzopoulos R, Mayosi BM, McAnulty JH, McDermott MM, McGrath J, Mensah GA, Merriman TR, Michaud C, Miller M, Miller TR, Mock C, Mocumbi AO, Mokdad AA, Moran A, Mulholland K, Nair MN, Naldi L, Narayan KM, Nasseri K, Norman P, O'Donnell M, Omer SB, Ortblad K, Osborne R, Ozgediz D, Pahari B,

- Pandian JD, Rivero AP, Padilla RP, Perez-Ruiz F, Perico N, Phillips D, Pierce K, Pope CA, 3rd, Porrini E, Pourmalek F, Raju M, Ranganathan D, Rehm JT, Rein DB, Remuzzi G, Rivara FP, Roberts T, De Leon FR, Rosenfeld LC, Rushton L, Sacco RL, Salomon JA, Sampson U, Sanman E, Schwebel DC, Segui-Gomez M, Shepard DS, Singh D, Singleton J, Sliwa K, Smith E, Steer A, Taylor JA, Thomas B, Tleyjeh IM, Towbin JA, Truelsen T, Undurraga EA, Venketasubramanian N, Vijayakumar L, Vos T, Wagner GR, Wang M, Wang W, Watt K, Weinstock MA, Weintraub R, Wilkinson JD, Woolf AD, Wulf S, Yeh PH, Yip P, Zabetian A, Zheng ZJ, Lopez AD, Murray CJ, AlMazroa MA, and Memish ZA. 2012. Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *Lancet* 380:2095-2128. 10.1016/s0140-6736(12)61728-0
- Ma H, Yang Q, Li D, and Liu J. 2015. Validation of suitable reference genes for quantitative polymerase chain reaction analysis in rabbit bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell differentiation. *Mol Med Rep* 12:2961-2968. 10.3892/mmr.2015.3776
- Mane VP, Heuer MA, Hillyer P, Navarro MB, and Rabin RL. 2008. Systematic method for determining an ideal housekeeping gene for real-time PCR analysis. *J Biomol Tech* 19:342-347.
- Ohl F, Jung M, Xu C, Stephan C, Rabien A, Burkhardt M, Nitsche A, Kristiansen G, Loening SA, Radonic A, and Jung K. 2005. Gene expression studies in prostate cancer tissue: which reference gene should be selected for normalization? *J Mol Med (Berl)* 83:1014-1024. 10.1007/s00109-005-0703-z

- Pfaffl MW, Tichopad A, Prgomet C, and Neuvians TP. 2004. Determination of stable housekeeping genes, differentially regulated target genes and sample integrity: BestKeeper--Excel-based tool using pair-wise correlations. *Biotechnol Lett* 26:509-515.
- Radonic A, Thulke S, Mackay IM, Landt O, Siegert W, and Nitsche A. 2004. Guideline to reference gene selection for quantitative real-time PCR. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 313:856-862.
- Vandesompele J, De Preter K, Pattyn F, Poppe B, Van Roy N, De Paepe A, and Speleman F. 2002. Accurate normalization of real-time quantitative RT-PCR data by geometric averaging of multiple internal control genes. *Genome Biol* 3:Research0034.
- Wan H, Zhao Z, Qian C, Sui Y, Malik AA, and Chen J. 2010. Selection of appropriate reference genes for gene expression studies by quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction in cucumber. *Anal Biochem* 399:257-261. 10.1016/j.ab.2009.12.008
- Wisnieski F, Calcagno DQ, Leal MF, dos Santos LC, Gigek Cde O, Chen ES, Pontes TB, Assumpcao PP, de Assumpcao MB, Demachki S, Burbano RR, and Smith Mde A. 2013. Reference genes for quantitative RT-PCR data in gastric tissues and cell lines. *World J Gastroenterol* 19:7121-7128. 10.3748/wjg.v19.i41.7121
- Yang Q, Ali HA, Yu S, Zhang L, Li X, Du Z, and Zhang G. 2014. Evaluation and validation of the suitable control genes for quantitative PCR studies in plasma DNA for noninvasive prenatal diagnosis. *Int J Mol Med* 34:1681-1687. 10.3892/ijmm.2014.1944

Yu S, Yang Q, Yang JH, Du Z, and Zhang G. 2015. Identification of suitable reference genes for investigating gene expression in human gallbladder carcinoma using reverse transcription quantitative polymerase chain reaction. *Mol Med Rep* 11:2967-2974. 10.3892/mmr.2014.3008

Figure legends

Fig. 1. Specificity of RT-qPCR amplification. (A) 1% agarose gel electrophoresis of RT-qPCR amplification products for each of the internal reference genes. The amplified product showed the expected size and no primer dimers. (B) Melting curve analysis for each of the internal reference genes. One single peak was obtained in each amplification reaction. M, marker.

Fig. 2. Cp values of the candidate internal reference genes. Dots represent the mean Cp value; bars represent the mean \pm standard deviation. (A) Cp values of each candidate internal reference gene in the cell line + tissue group (n = 15). (B) Cp values of each candidate internal reference gene in the tissue group (n = 14).

Fig. 3. Analysis results of the geNorm program. (A) The rank of expression stability of the candidate internal reference genes. The x-axis represents the internal reference genes, and the y-axis represents M values. A lower M value represents a higher expression stability (n = 15 for the cell line + tissue group; n = 14 for the tissue group). (B) Optimal number of internal reference genes in various groups. The x-axis represents the number of genes used for the combined analysis, and the y-axis represents the pairwise variation value. In $V(n/n+1)$, n is incremented by 1; when the first occurrence of the $V(n/n+1)$ value is less than 0.15, n represents the optimal number of internal reference genes that should be combined to achieve a satisfactory accuracy in the analysis.

Fig. 4. Analysis results of the NormFinder program. The x-axis represents the internal reference genes, while the y-axis represents the stability value. A lower

stability value represents higher expression stability. (A) The stability values of each candidate internal reference gene in the cell line + tissue group (n = 15). (B) The stability values of each candidate internal reference gene in the tissue group (n = 14).

Fig. 5. Analysis results of the BestKeeper program. The x-axis represents the internal reference genes, while the y-axis represents the coefficient of correlation (R-value). A higher R-value represents higher expression stability. (A) The R-values of each candidate internal reference gene in the cell line + tissue group (n = 15). (B) The R-values of each candidate internal reference gene in the tissue group (n = 14).